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FRED METTERS 

Frederick Metters was born in Melbourne, Victoria, in 

May 1858, the eighth child of James Metters (c.1821-

1881), a Cornish-born bricklayer, and his wife Susan 

nee Flux (c. 1824-1875) from the Isle of Wight.  

 

By 1869 James was employed as a stove setter and 

Fred worked for him. In the mid-1880s Fred moved to 

Adelaide and worked as a clerk and then as an 

ironmonger’s assistant.  

 

In October 1883 Fred married Frances Fisher (c.1860-1923) at the Clayton 

Congregational Church, Kensington; they went on to have three sons and three 

daughters. The family lived in Melbourne for a couple of years in the late 1880s where 

Fred worked for ‘Metters Bros’, a stove retailing and later manufacturing business set 

up by his elder brothers Charles and John. In 1890 Fred and his family moved back to 

Adelaide.  

 

 

1891 ‘TOP-FIRE’ OVEN PATENT 

In April 1891 Fred Metters patented 

a new ‘top-fire’ wood-fuelled oven. 

According to the patent ’the fire is in 

a chamber on the top [of the oven], 

having sliding doors in front, and in 

which the draught is caused to pass 

down the full width of the sides, 

under the bottom and allowed to 

spread all over the back of the oven’ 

(The oven was similar to one being 

manufactured by his brothers in 

Victoria).  

 

Shortly after the patent was issued 

Metters established, with capital of 

£40, a small business in Victoria 

Street, Adelaide, simply known as ‘Fred Metters’, in which to sell various sized 

versions (from the smallest No. 1 to No. 6) of his ‘Patent Improved Oven’. He travelled 

to country shows around South Australia demonstrating the oven. Business was soon 

thriving. By February 1892 Metters was employing sixteen men and making thirty 

stoves a week.  

 

1905 Fred Metters 

Metters No 2 wood-fired stove [abc.net.au] 



 
 

Page 4 of 28 
 

1893 NORMA AND LURLINE STREET FACTORY 

Confident of the future of the business, Metters saw the need for a substantial 

suburban manufacturing plant. In March, May and June 1893 he bought for £166 three 

allotments totalling 0.62 acres (0.25 hectares) on the northern side of Norma Street, 

West Adelaide - from 1944 renamed as a part of Mile End -  just west of Fisher 

Terrace/South Road.  

 

Here Metters built a galvanised iron factory which opened in early November 1893. At 

the same time he opened a new showroom and office at 72 Hindley Street (corner of 

Blyth Street). In September 1899 Metters bought a further three allotments on the 

southern side of Norma Street for £185 to accommodate the factory’s growth. 

 

In 1894-95 he had bought 0.62 acres (0.25 hectares) on Lurline Street, directly behind 

the Norma Street site, for £945. Here, 18 Lurline Street, was the site of the impressive 

ten-room Metters family home until 1909.  [See end for more on the Metters home]. 

 

The factory’s first few months were difficult. Newspapers almost immediately noted 

that the factory was ‘an annoyance to several families in the vicinity’ because of issues 

relating to its noise, smoke, unpleasant fumes and drainage.  

Residents were also concerned about declining property values and further, that ‘the 

workmen do all in their power to annoy a lady whose property adjoined the building’.  

Metters made changes to the factory, including moving the noisiest activities to a new 

shed and installing an absorption well to hold some of the foul water that had 

previously flowed into street drains.  

1935 Aerial View Henley Beach Road/Norma Street, west of South Road (was Fisher Terrace) [WestMaps public] 
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For a few months residents seemed mollified, but in February 1894 there were more 

complaints about the factory’s noise levels. This time, backed by legal advice, 

residents and the Thebarton council threatened to sue Metters if things did not 

improve.  

More changes were made and the matter lapsed for a time, though occasional 

complaints about the factory still emerged (in 1925, 1926 and 1954).  

 

1894 A NAME FAMILIAR TO EVERY SA HOUSEWIFE 

By late 1894 Metters had sold over 5,000 ovens in South Australia and was advertising 

himself as ‘a name familiar to every SA housewife’. Eventually about 15,000 of the first 

generation top fire design ovens were sold in South Australia.  At this time Metters’ 

main rival in South Australia was Simpson’s Ovens and Ranges.   

 

Metters was ambitious and sought 

national expansion. In September 

1894 he established a showroom in 

Hay Street, Perth and soon after 

opened a four acre (1.62 hectare) 

manufacturing plant in Wellington 

Street, Perth. From late 1896 the 

plant was known as the Great 

Western Foundry.  

 

By 1896 the Adelaide and Perth 

plants were manufacturing around 

625 ovens per month, including new 

versions of the original design, 

among them the ‘New Improved’, 

‘Barossa’ and ‘Royal’ ovens.  

 

Metters’ output during the middle and 

late 1890s expanded to include 

baths, bath heaters, grates, domestic 

irons, sinks, washing coppers, water 

tanks and windmills as well as 

copper smithing and galvanising services.  

 

  

New Improved Oven 
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By May 1897 Metters was employing about forty-five men at his West Adelaide plant, 

which was managed by Charles Caire. In June 1897 Metters opened a new, larger 

Adelaide showroom at 142 Rundle Street.  

 

F. METTERS AND COMPANY 

The opening of the Perth business proved to be pivotal for Metters. The Perth 

showroom had previously been leased by an Englishman, Henry Langdon Spring 

(1864-1937). Langdon had come to Australia in the early 1890s after working in a 

variety of fields, including ten years at a London stockbroking company.  

Metters Ltd factory Salvado Road, Wembley, Perth  21 Dec. 1964 [SLWA 58255PD] 

Metters Showroom 1897-1927, 142 Rundle Street Adelaide, 1923 [SLSA B 1278] 
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Spring saw the potential of Metters’ enterprise and quit his own transport business to 

become manager of Metters’ Perth office. Metters in turn was quickly impressed by 

Spring’s acumen and in October 1896 made him a partner in the business, now known 

as F. Metters and Company.  
 

Increasingly driven by Spring, the business continued to flourish. By 1902 the Adelaide 

and Perth businesses employed some two hundred workers.  
 

1902 ASSEMBLY FACTORY IN SYDNEY 

In early 1902 Metters and Company opened an assembly factory in Alice Street, 

Newtown, Sydney and a showroom in Bathurst Street, Sydney. A year later Metters 

was employing around one thousand men in the three states.  
 

In 1907 the company’s Sydney manufacturing plant was moved to an eighteen acre 

(7.3 hectare) site at Alexandria, South Sydney; the new plant included a foundry so 

that parts could be manufactured there and not imported from Adelaide as previously.  
 

In 1907 Metters’ Sydney showroom was also moved to 556-558 George Street. To a 

large extent the state divisions of Metters operated independently, their output 

depending upon their respective plant capabilities and local demand.  
 

The Perth factory often led the way, for example producing certain varieties of oven 

well before the eastern states. The Perth plant was also the first to begin the porcelain 

enamelling of some of its products.  
 

1903 THE GREAT CENTRAL FOUNDRY 

In Adelaide between August 1903 and July 1910 Metters bought sixteen allotments 

totalling 2.88 acres (1.17 hectares) on Henley Beach Road and in Norma Street to the 

south; adjacent to his factory and used to extend it, the allotments cost around £3,720.  

Henley Beach Road Mile End showing Metter’s windmill display on their property. [WTHS] 
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By 1910 Metters’ West Adelaide manufacturing plant 

covered a total of 4.02 acres (1.63 hectares). A little over 

half of the plant took up a block between Henley Beach 

Road and Norma Street, while the remainder of the factory 

was directly south on the southern side of Norma Street 

(the factory was sometimes advertised as the Great 

Central Foundry).  

By this time the plant employed around 160 workers; the 

works manager was George Matthew.  

(Also around this time Metters bought small amounts of 

land in other parts of West Adelaide but usually held them 

for only very brief periods). 

1907 METTERS LIMITED 

In 1907 Metters sold his interest in Metters and Company to Spring.  

In June 1908 a new Adelaide-based company, Metters Limited, began with Spring as 

managing director and with authorised share capital of £100,000.  

METTERS’ LIFE 

Between 1912 and 1916 Metters lived 

in Clovelly House, a grand home in 

Rose Park (now Toorak Gardens).  

About the same time he established, 

with his eldest child Frederick Hubert, 

a substantial citrus growing property, 

Murray View, south of Waikerie.  

Fred senior died in September 1937 

and was buried in the West Terrace cemetery.   

1908 Metters staff and family at picnic [SLSA  B-60686] 

Clovelly House, 2 Prescott Terrace, circa 2017  [realestate.com.au] 
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1909 AUSTRALIA’S LARGEST STOVE MANUFACTURER 

Company growth accelerated after the formation 

of Metters Ltd. By 1909 the company was 

Australia’s largest stove manufacturer, 

producing around 1,100 per month, and over the 

next five years introduced a series of new oven 

brands including the Beacon Light, Bega, Drop 

Door, Regina, Royal, Sam Weller, Samson and 

Wilga.  

Metters’ Adelaide plant produced most of these 

brands and by October 1911 was making 500 

stoves and ranges and 130 windmills a month; 

Metters dominated the windmill market in SA, 

producing around 80% of the state’s output.  

 

1911 FURTHER GROWTH 

Growth continued in the other states. In early 1911 Metters’ Perth plant moved to a 

larger site at Subiaco, while in 1914 the Sydney showroom was transferred to an 

ornate new six-storey building at 154-158 Elizabeth Street.  (The Metters Building was 

listed on the New South Wales State Heritage Register in April 1999).  In 1914 the 

Alexandria plant in Sydney employed 250 men.  

 

Nationally Metters expanded its 

output, moving into areas such as the 

manufacture of ornamental castings 

for homes, including balustrades, 

castings and finials.  

 

The company also began the 

production of agricultural implements 

including cultivators, ploughs, posthole 

diggers, pumps, tanks and troughs.  

 

 

 

Despite the broadening of output, ovens and stoves was Metters’ most profitable line 

and remained so for the life of the business. In 1914-15 Metters Ltd recorded a healthy 

net profit of £17,878, while its nominal capital was £200,000.   

Metters display at Adelaide show, 1909 

Metters cast iron scale, made in Sydney circa 1920s 
[exhibitcollection.com.au] 
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1914-1918 WAR YEARS 

During the first world war Metters’ production shifted almost exclusively to the 

manufacture of heavy duty cooking equipment for use by the armed services. Net 

company profits nonetheless remained consistent at around £17-£20,000.  

 

The company also continued domestic 

manufacturing. In late 1915 another 

showroom was opened in Newcastle, New 

South Wales.  

 

Metters also introduced new oven lines 

during the war, the Canberra, Kookaburra, 

Pearl and Zenith models all entering the 

market in 1916.  

 

More importantly, in mid-1917 the company released the first version of what was to 

become probably its most famous product, the Early Kooka stove.  

 

Usually coloured cream and green (but 

occasionally blue and white) the stove 

featured a picture on the door of a 

kookaburra with a worm in its mouth.  

 

 

1913 Old Exhibition Grounds Adelaide, Metters windmill at left [SLSA PRG-280-1-8-22] 

[thequirkandthecool.com] 
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INTRODUCTION OF ENAMELLING 

Like similar companies, Metters’ expansion in the inter-war period was assisted by 

substantial tariffs on imported stoves and other home appliances. Metters had begun 

manufacturing gas stoves as early as 1912 but it was not until the 1920s that 

production soared and gas stoves were made at Metters factories in all states.  

 

Metters Ltd had first ventured into the vitreous (or porcelain) enamelling of cast iron 

baths and sinks in about 1908.  

 

After establishing an enamelling plant at the Alexandria works in 1916, from around 

1920 Metters in response to public demand began the widespread enamelling of its 

stoves, basins, baths and sinks.  

 

 

Enamelling spread to Metters plants in all states in the 1930s.  

 

1936 Metters Catalogue [nla.obj-52820482] 
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1920s FURTHER EXPANSIONS 

Extensions continued with a Brisbane showroom opening in mid-1921 and the 

Alexandria plant being extended to cover 14.5 acres (5.87 hectares) in 1922. In 1922 

Metters’ nominal share capital was £1,000,000.  

 

By April 1926 Metters employed 250 workers at its 

Mile End plant, where it specialised in stoves, 

windmills and spray pumps. William Correll had taken 

over from Lewis H. Parker as works manager in 1925 

and held the position for the next twenty years.  

Metters Ltd employed around 1550 workers 

nationwide.  

 

National net profits during the early 1920s were 

strong, generally rising consistently from £48,030 in 

1920-21 to £58,602 in 1923-24 and to £76,325 in 

1926-27.  

 

In 1926 Metters Ltd also took over a New Zealand 

bath manufacturer in order to create Metters (New 

Zealand) Pty Ltd. The company had a showroom and 

a 17.5 acre/7.08 hectares plant in Wellington. 

 

In July 1927 Metters Ltd merged with a Sydney rival, KFB Ltd - which had been formed 

in 1911 by three former Metters employees – though the Metters name was retained 

for business purposes.  

 

GENERAL INDUSTRIES LIMITED (GIL) 

An Adelaide-based holding company, General Industries 

Limited (GIL), was formed with Spring as chairman of 

directors and managing director and with authorised capital 

of £2,000,000.  

 

The new company first employed about 3,000 workers 

nationally and advertised itself as ‘the largest manufacturer 

of its class in the southern hemisphere’.  

 

Metters was the dominant partner in the relationship, 

consistently earning around three-quarters or more of the 

company’s net profits.  1935 Henry Langdon 
Spring [wikitree.com] 
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In August 1927 Metters moved its Adelaide showroom from Rundle Street to an 

impressive new building at 98-100 North Terrace, directly across from the railway 

station.  

 

 

Designed by Adelaide architects Woods, Bagot, 

Jory and Laybourne Smith and constructed by 

James King and Son of Hindmarsh, the three-

level art deco-influenced building cost around 

£11,000. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In another important development, in mid-1928 Metters opened its first factory in 

Victoria on a thirteen acre (c.5.3 hectare) site in Footscray, Melbourne. 

 

  

Metters Showroom, 1927-1933, 98-100 North Terrace 1928 [SLSA B4786] 

[flickr.com/photos/94854784@N06/11976078166] 
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DEPRESSION YEARS AND RECOVERY  

Like most businesses Metters struggled during the depression, recording three losses 

from 1930-31 to 1932-33.  

 

Nonetheless Metters remained confident of its future, in August 1933 moving to a more 

prominent Adelaide showroom site at 124-126 Rundle Street.  

  
124-126 Rundle Street (left) had been used by Clarksons, selling wallpaper and leadlight, in 1923-24, and was 

converted to a theatre in 1943.  This was originally called The Liberty Theatre and then the Cinema Curzon. 

Used as Metters showroom 1933-1943 

 

The former Metters Building on North Terrace was then tenanted by a range of 

businesses. A non-heritage listed building, in 2020 there were fears that the building 

might be demolished. Developers stated at the time that the original façade would be 

incorporated into a new seventeen-storey apartment building. 

1952 [SLSA B12328] 1929 [SLSA B5149] 
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In January 1934 Metters was, with paid up capital of £622,170, the eighth largest 

company in South Australia (behind Elder Smith and Co with paid up capital of £2.399 

million).  

 

An oddity of Metters’ Adelaide operations in the 1930s was that its workers did not 

receive their wages through conventional means, for example by cheque or in a pay 

packet - their wages were paid to them by coins placed in metal cups. Why this was 

done remains a mystery.     

 

One of Metters’ most significant developments 

came in 1937 when it released the gas-fuelled 

version of its enamel Early Kooka oven. Its 

standard sized version retailing for around £11, 

the model became phenomenally popular and 

remained in production until the late 1940s.  

 

Other Metters models released in the 

1920s and 1930s included the Pigmy 

(1921), Capitol (1928), Empress, 

Shearer (both 1934) and Dover (1935).  

 

In the 1930s Metters also released the Thermatt, its first thermostatically-controlled 

oven.  

 

Another sign of Metters’ post-Depression resurgence came in 1937 when its 

Alexandria, Sydney plant was extended by ten acres (4.04 hectares), making it the 

largest Metters plant in Australia; by the early 1940s the plant employed around 2,000. 

(By then Alexandria was the largest industrial district in Australia and housed around 

550 factories).  

 

Metters’ profits rebounded sharply over the 1930s, rising from £81,354 in 1934-35 to 

£130,867 in 1936-37 to £169,004 in 1938-39.   

Metters Early Kooka stove. 
[collection.maas.museum/object/67299] 

Metters Pigmy 

[collections.museumsvictoria.com.au/items/245243] 
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SECOND WORLD WAR PRODUCTION AND PROFITS 

Although still manufacturing a limited range of appliances for the domestic market, 

during the second world war Metters moved into the production of military 

requirements including cooking utensils, food containers and components for land 

mines and pontoon bridges.  

 

The company’s wartime profits, though still reasonable, fell from £132,110 in 1940-41 

to £87,556 in 1942-43 to £86,431 in 1944-45.  

 

In July 1943 Metters moved its Adelaide head office and showroom to 66 Grenfell 

Street (eastern corner of Gawler Place), formerly the A. Simpson and Sons factory. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

POST-WAR DOMESTIC APPLIANCE DEMAND 

After the war there was a huge and growing demand in Australia for domestic 

appliances and companies like Metters (and Kelvinator Australia Ltd, another West 

Torrens-based company) benefited significantly.  

 

The increasing use of electric stoves from the late 1940s also helped the company.  

 

For the financial years ending 31 December Metters’ net profits rose from £119,775 in 

1947 to £162,669 in 1949 to £236,722 in 1951. Reflecting its optimism for the future 

Metters increased its Adelaide factory space.  

 

  

66 Grenfell Street, 1899 [SLSA PRG 631/2/46] 

[flickr.com/photos/94854784@N06/11976078476] 
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POST-WAR ADVERTISING 

 

  

 

 

 

  

News, 15 September 1948, page 6 

Chronicle, 9 September 1948, 
page 41 

Chronicle, 31 January 1946 

Chronicle, 1 May 1947, page 14 

Advertiser 2 Feb 1949, page 13 News, 17 September 1949, page 10 
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1950 MANCHESTER STREET MILE END SOUTH 

 

In May 1950 the company began building a £100,000, 2.06 acre (0.83 hectare) plant 

at Manchester Street, Mile End South. Metters had shown significant foresight on the 

issue by buying land in Mile End South as early as April 1918.  The site was close to 

the Mile End goods yards, the city and Port Road (and thereby the shipping facilities 

of Outer Harbor). 

In 1918 Metters had bought 18.57 acres (7.51 hectares) between London Road and 

Manchester Street, Mile End South from the South Australian Company for £4,030.  
 

The company supplemented 

the purchase by buying 1.53 

acres (0.62 hectares) on the 

northern side of Manchester 

Street during the 1940s for a 

total of £1,812.10s.  

 

After very profitably selling 

portions of the land over the 

years – such as 4.33 acres 

(1.75 hectares) to the Shell 

Company of Australia in 

December 1928 for £7,160 – 

by 1950 Metters owned 4.67 

acres (1.89 hectares) at Mile 

End South.  

 
 

WestMaps Public 1959 

[flickr.com/photos/94854784@N06/11
976077976] 

1967 [misterbookman.com.au ] 
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The plant eventually opened there by Metters in May 1952 specialised in 

manufacturing porcelain enamel baths and basins for the South Australian and 

Western Australian markets. The Mile End plant, with around 470 workers, continued 

to operate.  

 

Not all were happy with the opening of the plant. In late 1954 

press reports noted that several local families were upset by 

the ‘black dust’ emanating from the plant and that ‘fourteen 

families had been driven from their homes … one family had 

lived … in Manchester Street for 35 years’. Metters made 

changes and the problem eased.  

 

Metters’ profits grew strongly during the early and mid-1950s, 

encouraging further expansion in Adelaide. Metters bought 

additional land near the Mile End South plant during these 

years and by May 1954 had accumulated another 1.07 

acres/0.43 hectares at a cost of £18,900.  

 

In November 1954 Metters announced that a second plant of 1.14 acres (0.46 

hectares) would be built on Manchester Street. Designed by architect Gordon C. 

Brown of Pirie Street, built by J.Grove and Son of Mitcham and costing around 

£150,000, the factory opened in early 1956 to house the electric and solid fuel cooker 

assembly plant then in use at the Mile End factory.   

Metters Sydney trade catalogue circa 1940 [sydneylivingmuseums.com.au/exhibitions/modern-bathroom] 

Advertiser 24 November 

1954, page 3 
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Metters’ main Adelaide production activities and head office were now situated at 7-

25 Manchester Street, Mile End South (virtually the western one-third of the area 

between London Road and Manchester Street).  

 

Metters’ peak Adelaide employment level came in the late 1950s when its Mile End 

and Mile End South plants employed around 550 workers in total.  

 

1950s /1960s BUSINESS CHANGES 

In 1961 Metters, not unexpectedly, closed its Mile End factory. (The Mile End 

allotments were sold by the company in 1962-64 and fetched a very healthy average 

of around £4,500 per 0.18 acre (0.7 hectare) allotment).   

 

The location of Metters’ Adelaide 

showroom also changed in the 

mid-1950s.  

 

In 1955 the showroom was 

moved to 58-60 Pulteney Street, 

just north of Hindmarsh Square.  

  

The following year the showroom was moved to Murray House, 79 Grenfell Street, 

between Chesser Street and Coromandel Place. 

 

Metters’ interstate growth in the early to mid-1950s 

was strong. In Sydney in 1954 the company 

launched a subsidiary, Sovereign Appliances Ltd, 

to manufacture refrigerators.  

 

Two years later Metters opened a factory at 

Bankstown to accommodate increasing 

production. In later years Sovereign Appliances 

expanded into the manufacture of air conditioners, 

dishwashers and room heaters (by 1961 the 

Bankstown factory had doubled in size). In 1955 

Metters bought out Grimwood Electrical Products, 

a NSW-based manufacturer of electric tubular 

heating elements (for heaters and jugs for 

example) and moved into that area of production.  

 

 

58-60 Pulteney Street 1939 [SLSA B 8203] 

Sydney Morning Herald, 8 November 1958, page 7 



 
 

Page 22 of 28 
 

 

In 1958 Metters bought another NSW-based company, Ferro Precision Pty Ltd, and 

began the manufacture of cast iron pipes and fittings.  

 

The Australian domestic appliance market tightened considerably from the mid-1950s 

– the number of whitegoods firms operating in Australia fell from forty in 1954 to twenty 

in 1971.  

 

After generally reasonable profits in the mid to late 1950s, apart from a one-off loss in 

1955-56, the 1960s brought mixed fortunes for Metters.  

 

In 1966 the company bought an Adelaide 

business, Iplex Plastics International, and 

expanded strongly into the production of plastics 

for the plumbing and motor industries.  

 

The company reinforced the move the 

following year by acquiring J. Walker 

(Holdings), an Australian leader in making 

polypropylene traps and fittings.  

 

In 1967 Metters still held 30% of the 

Australian market for stoves – the company’s 

major sellers in the 1960s included the 

Debonair, Duplex, Etna and Fiesta models – 

and remained a major manufacturer of baths 

and sinks. Metters also remained a large 

employer, with more than 4000 workers 

Australia-wide.        

 

 

 

1960s MARKET COMPETITION 

In the 1960s Metters’ stove business was increasingly under threat from brands 

including Frigidaire, Fisher and Paykel and Kenwood.  

 

In 1969-70 Metters’ net profit was virtually the same as in 1964-65. In the three years 

from 1966-67 Metters’ net profit averaged just over $882,000: in the same period 

Kelvinator Australia’s average profit was over $1 million while Email Australia’s was a 

little under $2 million.  

[collections.museumsvictoria.com.au/items/1739267] 
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In Adelaide, activity at the Mile End South site was 

considerably reduced from 1965 when bath 

manufacture was transferred to Sydney (Metters 

had closed its Grenfell Street showroom in 1962). 

In the late 1960s Metters had a low rate of return 

on its substantial $17.2 million worth of assets.  

 

The share market came to the view that Metters 

was underperforming. The company was the 

subject of takeover rumours in late 1967 and mid-

1969.  

 

After three takeover bids in early 1972, in March 

Metters accepted a $12.9 million offer from Walloo 

Pty Ltd of New South Wales.  

 

 

 

1974 SOLD TO EMAIL LIMITED 

After the sale the Metters group was split up. Iplex Plastics was sold quickly, leaving 

Metters and Grimwood as the major remaining components of the group. These were 

sold to Email Limited of Australia in April 1974 for $6.75 million and $1.55 million 

respectively.  

 

After being acquired by Email Ltd the former Metters properties were 

fairly quickly sold off.  

In Sydney the Alexandria plant closed in 1974 but is remembered by today’s Metters, 

Pearl and Zenith Streets, Erskineville (which suburb now includes part of Alexandria).  

The Elizabeth Street showroom was also closed at about 

the same time. The Subiaco plant shut and was eventually 

demolished in 1986. Metters Lane runs along part of the 

former site of the factory.  

In Adelaide the former Metters site at Mile End South was 

disposed of in sales of November 1975 and November 1976 

to private companies for a total of $583,000. Today the site 

is home to several mainly light industrial businesses.  

  

The Rocks, Sydney, circa 1973 
[facebook.com Old Sydney Album] 

Elizabeth Street, Sydney[wikipedia.org/wiki/Metters_Building] 
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2000 ELECTROLUX TAKE OVER 

In the wake of the introduction by the federal 

government of deep tariff cuts and other trade 

liberalization policies in the domestic white goods 

industry, from the mid-1970s Email Ltd was itself 

weakened. It was eventually taken over by Sweden’s 

Electrolux AB in November 2000.  

The still-respected Metters brand name was used by Email Ltd until the mid-1980s 

(and many Metters windmills remain in use in rural Australia).  

Although today few of the whitegoods sold in Australia are made here, Electrolux-

owned stoves are an exception.  

The Electrolux plant at Dudley Park, Adelaide currently employs around 350 workers 

and manufactures a range of AEG, Chef, Electrolux and Westinghouse cooking 

products.  

 

 

  

Electrolux Dudley Park assembly line [/adelaideaz.com/articles/electrolux] 
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LURLINE STREET HOME 

  

After its sale by the Metters family in 1909 their former Lurline Street home and its 

surrounding land have been used mainly as a hospital site. 

In early 1923 Sister Violet M. Penny established a maternity hospital, the Te Whare 

Private Hospital, in the home. (Te Whare is a Maori expression for ‘the house’). The 

hospital was renamed as the Warraweena Private Hospital in mid-1927. Warraweena 

is apparently an Indigenous word meaning ‘deep water’.  

Sister Minna Siebert took over the running of the hospital in 1928 

and bought it in August 1937; she married in 1945 and became 

Sister Watt.  

From July 1946 Watt leased the house, via the state government, 

to Mrs Esther Lipman who established the sixteen-bed Mile End 

Emergency Maternity Hospital there from 1 August; Matron Jean 

W. Paterson was in charge.  

The commodiose and room Home is most solidly built and comprises 10 large Rooms, with Kitchen and underground Room, and 

is situated in No.18 Lurline street, Mile End, very convenient to the city. Stands on a large block of land measuring 140ft. by 

150ft.,  which is laid out in Garden, as can be seen in the photograph. The House has a wide Verandah running all around, and 

has a large Cellar, Motor Shed, and very large G.I. an dBrick Workshop. On account of its accommodation, its magnificent 

Lawns and its situation, it is eminently suited for a Nursing Home, Private Hospital, Guest Home, &c.  

 

May Sale of 18 Lurline Street Mile End 1922, in Register Adelaide, Real Property 
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The hospital was sold to the Mile End Maternity Hospital 

Limited in February 1955 and  became the Mile End Hospital; 

D.M. Stewart was the first matron. Australian Cricketer David 

Hookes was born in the hospital on 3 May 1955.  

 

In June 1958 the hospital was bought was by a coalition of 

Thebarton community interests and renamed as the 

Thebarton Community Hospital; Matron W.E. Reid was in 

charge.  

 

 

It appears that the original Metters home was demolished in the 1970s and replaced 

by the current building.  

The hospital became the South-West Community Hospital in December 1986. 

Burdened by increasing debt, the now 27-bed hospital was from March 1991 leased 

to the Ashford Community Hospital as a facility for convalescing and longer stay 

patients. 

In 1995 Ashford developed a Newborn Support Centre at the hospital to give personal 

and telephone advice to parents who had recently given birth at Ashford.  

In February 1996 Ashford bought the South-West Community Hospital outright and 

renamed it as the Ashford South-West Annexe.   

In March 1995-March 1996 the Annexe also housed the Ashford Cancer Centre, the 

first private oncology facility in South Australia providing an integrated diagnosis, 

treatment and support centre and both in and outpatient facilities. After three months 

of operation the centre had already treated over 6,000 patients. In later years the 

Annexe continued to serve as a newborn and rehabilitation centre.   

Ashford used the Annexe until December 2003.  

The Annexe was then sold to the state government which, after a $3.85 million refit 

funded by federal and state governments, reopened the facility in June 2007 as Elpida 

House, a Community Rehabilitation Centre for people with mental health issues. 

Elpida is an Ancient Greek word meaning ‘hope’. 

  

News, 7 Jun 1954, page 11 
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